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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA
COLUMBIA DIVISION

GALE EREKSON, on behalf of herself and C/A No. 3:18cv-0032CMC
others similarly situated,
Plaintiff,
Opinion andOrder
V. on Motion to Dismiss
CLARKSON & HALE, LLC, (ECF No. 38)
Defendant

Through this action, Rintiff Gale Erekson (“Erekson”) seeks recovery from Clarkson &
Hale, LLC (“Clarksori) for actions taken in attempting to collect twebts Ereksors claims are
pursued under the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U§&1692et seq. The
action is pleaded as a putative class action.

The matter is before the court @larksors motion to dismissthe First Amended
Complaint (“Amended Qumplaint”). For reasons set forth below, the motion is granted in part and
deniedin part.

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Original Complaint. Ereksorfiled this action on January 4, 2018. ECF N¢Qriginal
Complaint”). The Original Complaindssertec single claim for violation of 16.S.C. § 16929
(“Section 1692g”) based a@larksonrs inclusion of the following sentence in two letters mailed
to Erekson on or about July 24, 2017: “That you have thirty days to notify this office of a dispute
as to tle validity of all or any portion of the debt may not prevent this office from filing auaw
within that time.” SeeECF Ncs. 1 11 28, 34,1, 1-2. The letters were part @larksons effort

to collect debts owed to creditor Midland Funding, LLC orditreards identified as the “Sam’
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Club Debt” and the “QCard Debt.” ECF Nos{ 2325, 30, 31, 11, 1-2. Erekson alleges she
a “consumer’and Clarksons a “debt collector” as defined by 15 U.S&3 1692a(3)(6). ECF
No. 11117, 21.

Erekson Heged the challenged language violated Section 1692g(b) becau
“overshadowedClarksoris otherwise proper disclosure Bfeksors statutory right$o challenge
the debt, seek ddiional information, or bothduring the thirty days following receipt Q
noftification of theserights ECF No. 1 11 3&%3-71! While she acknowledged a “debt collect
may legally initiate legal action before the expiration of thel®@[ValidationP]eriod” Erekson
asserted a thre#t initiate litigation during this perioovershadows an otherwise proper disclos
of the consumer’sights unlessthe debt collector includelanguage “explain[ing] that thg
consumer may take advantage of his or her rights Ufh1dé02), notwithstanding the threat” g
litigation. Id.  67-69. Ereksorelied onBartlett v. Heibl,128 F.3d 497, 502 (7th Cir. 199in)

support of this positionld. § 692

1 Section 1692g(a) requires a debt collector to send a written notice to the congtininefive

days of the debt collector’s initial contact, providing specified information abeutiebt and
informing the consumer of his or her right to dispute the validity of the debt stefeename anc
address of the original creditor, or both within thirty days of receipt of theenoti5 U.S.C§

1692g(a). For ease of reference, the court refers to the required disclosures'Required
Disclosures” and the thirtgtlay perod to dispute validity of the debt or request information ab
the original creditor as the “Validation Period.” While the debt collestorot prohibited from
pursuing collection during the Validation Period, “[a]ny collection actividied communications
during [this] period may not overshadow or be inconsistent with the disclosure of the cdsis
right to dispute the debt or request the name and address of the original crethtds.S.C.8

1692g(b).

2 Bartlett held a letter that provided the Required Disclosures but also stated the consume
be sued if he did not make payment within one week of the date of the letter violaied S
1692g(b) because the “juxtaposition of the-erexk and thirtyday crucial periods [turned] th
requireddisclosure into legal gibberish” and “was as bad as an outright contradicBatlett,
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Motion to Dismiss Original Complaint. Clarkson moved to dismisghe Original
Complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. ECF Np. 17.
Relying on cases holdingansumes right to dispute or seek validation ofdgbtcoexistswith
the debt collector’s righto pursue collection during théalidation Period Clarksonarguedthe
challenged sentence doest support a claim for overshadowingg. at 810; see also idat 6
(citing Durkin v. Equifax Check Servs., Ind06 F.3d 410, 416 (7th Cir. 2005) for propositipn
“during the validation period, tHeonsumer’sfright to dispute coexists with the dedallector’s
right to collect[,]”including the right to initiate “an appropriate lawsuit”).

Erekson's Response Ereksorresponded witlhotha motion to amend her complaimich
a memorandum in opposition to dismissal. ECF Nos. 20, 21. loppesition memorandum
Ereksonrelied onBartlett in arguing the single sentence challenged in the Original Complaint
overshadowed Clarkstnotherwise proper disclosures of her rights during the Validation Pefriod.

ECF No. 21 at 6, 7Ereksomasserted three caswithin the Fourth Circuit “have relied Bartlett

128 F.3d at 501. The court offered shéegbor language a debt collector could use to explain the
interplay between the rights of the consumer and those of the debt collector duringdbhgova
Period. Id. at 502.

3 In Durkin, the debt collector includeBartletts proposed safbarbor language in its initial
written communication but did not repeat it in later communications that included deroands f
payment. The court held such repetition was not requirBdrkin, 406 F.3d. at 416 (“not every
follow-up letter demanding payment during the validation period overshadows or contradicts a
validation notice; thus, not every follewp letter sent during the validation period must
automatically reiterate the saf@arbor validation notice, refer back to that notice, or remind debtors
about the validation period and the time remaining in that period. Therefore, the mere afsen
any such reiterations and remindarghe followup collection letters does not alone generate an
unacceptable level of confusion so as to warrant summary judgment for thdfpldRaiher, the
matter turns on whether the specific text contains any impermissible overshgdow
contradicion with respect to the validation notite
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in finding that a debt collector’'s threat of litigation or demand for payment withimital

collection notice can violatg 1692g(b).” Id. at 7 (citingGarcia-Contreras v. Brock & Scott
PLLC, 775 F. Supp. 2d 808, 821 (M.D.N.C. 2011)Glen v. Law Office of W.C. FrencNo.

CIV. ELH-11927, 2012 WL 181496, at *3 (D. Md. Jan 19 20X2port and recommendatio
adopted,No. CIV.A. ELH-11-00927, 2012 WL 425870 (D. Md. Feb. 8, 201Z)rner v.

Shenandah Legal Grp., P.C.No. 3:06CV045, 2006 WL 1685698, at *6 (E.D. Va. June
2006)).

Erekson’s motion to amend sought to add factual allegations in support of both ting e
overshadowing claim (alleging violation of Section 1692g(b)) and a second causmmwff@ct
violation of 15 U.S.C8 1692e (“Section 1692e”), which prohibits use of “any false, deceptiv
misleading representation or means in connection with the collection afedrty The addeo
factual allegations relate to a telephoonewersation Erekson initiated in response to the July
2107 letters and multiple subsequent written communications from Clarkson. Agctod
Erekson,she agreed to pay $10 per month on each of the two debts for a period of six I
during the telephone conversation. ECF No120f 3656. Clarkson, thereafter, sent writtg
communications that significantly misstated what Erekagmeed tcandrepeatedly encourage
her to takeaction within the Validation Perd that would have waived her rightssaated in the
Required Disclosuredd. 11 97, 100-03see also infr& Statement of Facts

Clarkson’s Reply and Opposition to Amendment. In its reply in support of dismissa

Clarkson arguedartletts requirement foisafeharbor language “has not been adopted by

Fourth Circuit.” ECF No. 23 at 1. diso challenge&reksors assertion district courts within the

Fourth Circuit have relied oBartlett to find a threat of litigation within the Validation Perio

may, alonesupport an overshadowingaan. It noted he three withircircuit decisions cited by
4
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Ereksoneachdemanded actiowithin the Validation Periodld. at 46.* Clarkson also relied on

McCormick v. Wells Fargo Bank40 F. Supp. 2d 795, 800 (S.D.W.Va. 2068 an ircircuit
decision rejectingBartletts requirement a debt collector include the proposde-harbor
languagdf it refers to its right to initiate litigation during the Validation Peridd. at 2-3.
Clarkson separately opposEteksors motion to amends futile. ECF No. 24.Clarkson
arguedErekson’s allegations regardiriige lettersdated on and after July 31, 2017, and th

attachmentsdid not curethe deficiencies irEreksors original overshadowing claimSection

eir

1692g(b))becausgto state such a clainkreksormust show “both a demand for payment or threat

of litigation and an unduly confusing obligation on behalf of the Plaintiff.” ECF No. 24 at 4

(emphasis in original).Clarksonargued there was no confusing obligation becawgker than
demanding payment within the Validation Period, the letters only requEstédonsign and
return documents and did not threaten litigatitth.at 57.

Clarkson arguedhe added clainunder Section 1692fr use ofa false, deceptive, o
misleading representatioor means to collect a debt failed as a matter of law bedawedied on

allegationsClarkson“incorrectly described” the agreement reached in a telephone call and

not “be shoehorned into any categbsted in§ 1692e.” Id. at 9 (arguing, if the statement of the

agreement was incorredEreksoncould either have declined to sign the attached docunoen

4 As Clarkson notesGarcia-Contrerasacknowledged the debt collector “carefully avoid[e
using the phrase ‘immediately’ to expressly modify ‘payment,” but held ttex ket a whole “car
reasonably be terpreted by the least sophisticated consumer as a demand for imm
payment[,]” which would fall within the the thidglay Validation Period, thus creating confusi
as to when the consumer must dd. at 3, n.1.Similarly, Clarkson notes the courts@enand
Turner found the letters included confusing or conflicting time periods that might confus
consumer as to when he or she must take acttrat 4, n.12.
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asked for correction Clarksonasserted there was an absence of precedent for any simitay
which it characterized as a claim based on an “incorrect recollection of a satwel Id.

Clarksonalso argued the letters did not, read in full, suggest litigation had been coatmkhc
at 10.

Erekson’s Reply. In herreply in support olamerdment Erekson notedhe proposed
added allegations adessmultiple communications followingreksors receipt of the two July
24, 2017 letters, including héelephonicagreement to make six10 payments on each difie
debts which she alleges Clarksorrepeatedly misrepresented in subsequent writt

communications.ECF No. 25at 3. Among other things, those communicatifatsely suggest

clai

Erekson agreed to sign a Confession of Judgment and direct Erekson to take actiothwithi

Validation Periodhat would waive her statutory rightdd. In addition, thesubject lineon the
letters and captions on attachments givefétge impression litigation may already have be
instituted violating Section 1692e.

Order on Motions to Dismiss and Amend.Following this briefing, the court entered th
following docket text order:

TEXT ORDER: Haing fully considered Defendast'motion to dismiss and
Plaintiff s motion to amend, the court finds the proposed amended complaint
includes significant allegationsf additional communications that may (1) cure
alleged deficiencies in Plaifft s original cause of action for violation of 15 U.S.C.
Section 1692g, (2) support an additional claim for violation of Section 1692e, or
(3) both. Without ruling on the viahtyi of either claim, the court grants the motion

to amend and, consequently, finds the motion to dismiss moot. Within seven days
of entry of this order, Plaintiff shall file her amended complaint, attaching all
referenced letters and related documents aoldiding specific allegations as to
any oral or written communications on which she relies for her claims. The
proposed amended complaint shall be modified only to the extent allowed by this
order. This ruling iswithout prejudice to Defendant’s right taise arguments
corresponding to those made in its motion to dismiss and in opposition to the
motion to amend in a future motion to dismiss or for summary judgment.

e




ECF No. 26 (entered April 10, 2018).

Amended Complaint. Consistent with the instructisnin this orderEreksonfiled her
Amended Complaint on April 16, 201&ttaching referenced written communications and
summarizing oral communication&CF No.29. Thre Amended G@mplaint seeks certification of
a “Template” class consisting of personshwfiouth Carolina addresses to wh@farksonsent a
letter based on the same form or template used for the two IEteeksondirected toErekson
dated July 24, 20171d. 11 6264, 68. It also seeks certification of a “Confession Templates
Subclass” cosisting of persons with South Carolina addresses to vllarksonsent one or morg
letters based upon the same forms or templates used for multiple @&tetsondirected to
Erekson dated July 31, 2017, August 10, 2017, August 16, 2017, and August 21T H65
68. See infrd'Statement of Facts.”

Motion to Dismiss Amended Complaint. Clarksonanswered and later moved to dismiss
the Amended Complaint on July 11, 2018. ECF Nos. 31CB&ksons arguments are similar tp
those made in support ils motion to dismiss the Original Complaartd opposition t&reksors
motion to amend. Ereksonfiled a response on August 8, 201pposing the motion with
arguments similar to those made in her prior memoraidz No. 42. No further memoranda
were filed. The parties’ arguments for and against dismissal are set out in the idis@es$ion
of this order.

STANDARD

A motion under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) should be granted onlyrf,| afte

acceptingall well-pleaded allegations in the complaint as true, it appears certain the plaintiff

cannot prove any set of facts in support of her claims that entitte hedref. See Edwards v. City

of Goldsborg 178 F.3d 231, 244 (4th Cir. 1999). Although toeirt must take the facts in the
7




light most favorable to the plaintjfft “need not accept the legal conclusions [the plaintiff wolld

draw] from the facts."Giarratano v. Johnsgrb21 F.3d 298, 302 (4th Cir. 2008) (quotBagstern
Shore Mkts., Inc. v. J.D. Assocs. Ltdship, 213 F.3d 175, 180 (4th Cir. 2000)). The court m
also disregard any “unwarranted inferences, unreasonable conclusions, or aduldent

The Rule 12(b)(6) standard has often been expressed as precluding dismissai s

certain that the plaintiff is not entitled to relief under any legal theory that plgusild be

suggested by the facts allegeSee Mylan Labs., Inc. v. Markarf F.3d 1130, 1134 (4th Cir.

1993). Nonetheless, the plaintiff must allege “enough facttate a claim to relief that is plausible

on its face.” Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544 (2007) (quoted @Giarratang 521 F.3d at

302).

Despite the libelgpleading standard of Rule 8, a plaintiff in any civil action must include n
than mere conclusory statements in support of a cl&ee Ashcroft v. Igbab56 U.S. 662, 678

(2009) (court need only accept as true the complaint's factual allegatiohstsnkegal

conclusions); ee also McCleargvans v. Maryland Dept. of Trang80 F.3d 582, 587 (4th Cir.

2015) (notinglgbal and Twomblyarticulated a new requirement that a complaint must alle
plausible claim for relief, thus rejecting a standarak twould allow a complaint to survive
motion to dismiss “whenever the pleadings left open the possibility that a plaingifit tater
establish some set of [undisclosed] facts to support recovery.” (emphasiteeattba in original,
internal quotation marks omitted))jalters v. McMaher684 F.3d 435, 439 (4th Cir. 2012) (citin
Robertson v. Sea Pines Real Estate Companiesfir@.F.3d 278 (4th Cir. 2012) for propositic
plaintiff need not forecast evidence sufficient to prove the elements oiivg blat must allege

sufficient facts to establish those elements).
8
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STATEMENT OF FACTS
In her Amended Complaint, the allegations of which are accepted as true for pufpc
this order, Erekson alleges Clarkson sent her two letters dated July 24p20%@&|ating to the
Sam’s Club Debt and one relating to the QCard Debt. ECF Nfff 28, 25° The letters reflect
“Clarkson’s law firm letterhead” and are signed by an attorndy 26, 27, 32, 33, Exs. A, B
(ECF Nos. 29-1, 29-2).

Bothlettersinclude a section headeNOTICE OF IMPORTANT RIGHTS .” The first

paragraph following this heading advises Erekson of her statutory rights inctbdirsihe has
thirty days after receipt of the notice to dispute the validity of the debt or serlettey of the
original creditor® The next sentence in both letters reads as follows: “That you have tlysty
to notify this office of a dispute as to the validity of all or any portion of the depiwigorevent
this office from filing a lawsuit withirthat time.” ECF No. 29 11 28, 34. The letters “did
explain how Clarkson’s threat of filing a lawsuit . . . within the dispute period coetpeith Ms.

Erekson’s right to dispute the debid. 11 29, 35.

Erekson contacted Clarkson by telephoneoorbefore July 31, 2017. She informe

Clarkson “she could afford to make $10.00 monthly payments toward both [debts] for a pe
six months.” Id. § 36. Clarkson’s representative “stated [Clarkson] would accept

arrangement.”ld. I 37.

® The various letters referenced in the Amended Complaint are attached thereto.h&htciyt
of the attachments is not disputed, at least for purposes of the motion to dismiss.

® Erekson does not challenge the sufficiency of this paragraph to satisfy Sectiora)L6®&e(
challenge relates to the additional language that follows.
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Clarkon mailed Erekson two letters dated July 31, 2017, each with the subjed
“MIDLAND FUNDING LLC —vs-GALE EREKSON: Id. 11 3840, Ex. C. The letters referre
to and attached two copies of separate Confessions of Judgment and SettlemeaneAigréo
the two debts and instructed Erekson to “review these documents, sign them, then ha

witnessedandnotarized.” ECF No. 2941, Ex. C. “Upon completion” of these tasks, Ereks

was instructed to return one set and keepdtmer. The letter comued “[a]s agreed the

Confession will be held in our file unless you default on your monthly paymemds.” In
emphasized type, the letter statel EASE NOTE THE SIGNED DOCUMENT WILL NEED
TO BE RETURNED TO OUR OFFICE WITHIN 10 DAYS OF THE DATE OF THIS
LETTER.” Id.

Erekson alleges the letters misrepresented what she had agreed to do in twarsig
respects: (1) there was no mention of a confession of judgment in the telephone convargh
(2) she agreed only to make payments for six monthtso continue making payments at the r
of $10 per month until the debts were paid in fudl. 1 36, 43, Ex. C at 3, 12 (ECF No. 2p-

The Settlement Agreements for the two debts were worded identicallytiodimesis to the
amount of the debt. Both included the following captions:

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
COUNTY OF RICHLAND

IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

)
)
)
MIDLAND FUNDING LLC, )
Plaintiff, )
)
VS. ) SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT
)
)
)

GALE EREKSON,
Defendant(s).
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Like the caption, the text identified Erekson as “Defendant” and the crehiidiand

Funding LLC, as “Plaintiff.” BothSettlement Agreementacluded three subparagraphs. The

first read as follows “(a) Defendnt hereby releases any and all claims and/or liabilities against

Plaintiff, both known and unknown, related to the account at issue.” ECF Noat?®, 12. The

second subparagraph agreed to pay the creditor the full amount of the debt ($4,7702tidébt pn

and $2,114.50 for the other) “by making monthly payments of $10.00. These payments

are to

begin on August 15, 2017 and are due . . . on or before the 15th day of each successive month unti

the debt is paid[.]"ld. T (b) (providing Clarkson’s address for payments). The third subparagraph

agreed Erekson would “sign a Confession of Judgment” for the full amount of the debt ptsg “

and disbursements of this action in the sum of $10.00. (b). It also stated the Confession [of

Judgment “may be filed for record with the Clerk of Court” if Erekson failed to comiph the
payment terms in the preceding subparagraph, with credit given for any paynaetd Id. T (c).
The captions on the Confessions of Judgment were similar to those onttthen&d
Agreements, changing the title of the document to “Confession of Judgment” and adieliegae
to the “Fifth Judicial Circuit.” While the Settlement Agreements indicated the Giorfssof
Judgment would only be filed if Plaintiff failed to make the required payments, thesSame
of Judgment themselves stated Erekson authorized “Plaintiff to file this $Sgrieof Judgmen

for record with the Clerk of Court’s Office for RICHLAND CountyE.g. ECF No. 29-3 at 18.

Cco

Erekson alleges the July 3017 letters and their attachments were false, deceptive, and

misleading both because they misrepresented what Erekson agreed to do aredtbecaugect

line and captions on attachments would have led “the least sophisticated consumer .eveq beli

thata lawsuit had been initiateahen, in fact, no litigation had commenced. ECF No. 29 11 44-

47. She alleges they also overshadoweddisclosures required by Sectil692g(a) because the
11




“least sophisticated consumer would not understamdbe distacted from the faetthat he or
she still maintained the right to dispute the debt within thde80period established by receipt
the July 24, 2017 letters.Id. § 48.

Clarkson sent several follow up letters. The first, sent on August 10, 201&dneldhe
Sam’s Club Debt and, like the July 31, 2017 lettesfgrred to “MIDLAND FUNDING LLC-vs
—GALE EREKSON in the subject line. ECF No. J84951; ECF No. 291. The body read a
follows:

Pursuant to your request, our office recently sent gobettlement

Agreement and Confession of Judgment to document monthly payment

arrangements for the above referenced matter. As of the date of this letter, our

office has not received these documents back from you.
Please be advised that if the SettlamAgreement and Confession of

Judgment are not properly completed and returmedrtoffice within ten (10) days

from the date of this letter, your payment plan may be deleted. Additionally, if a

law suit has been filed against you, the legal procesdiillj continue until the

documents are properly completed and returned.

Pleasecall the undersigned promptly upon receipt of this letter to confirm
the completion and return of the requested documents.

ECF No. 294. The letter was on law firm statiogaand signed by a “Legal Assistant I111d.

On August 16, 2017, the same legal assistant sent a nearly identical letileg teléhe
QCard Debt. The only difference was the identification of the debt.

On August 21, 2017, the same legal assistant sent a different followeunpeéating to the
Sam’s Club Debt. As with the earlier letters, the subject line of this letterecter“MIDLAND
FUNDING LLC -vs- GALE EREKSON?! It referred to theearlier telephone conversatiorn
enclosed two copies of the Confession of Judgment and Settlement AgreemenSéonth€lub
Debt, and stated Erekson should “[p]lease review these documents, sign them, thémrna

witnessedandnotoraized],]” and then return om set. As before, the letter included the follg
12
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bold instruction: PLEASE NOTE THE SIGNED DOCUMENTS WILL NEED TO BE

RETURNED TO OUR OFFICE WITHIN 10 DAYS OF THE DATE OF THIS LETTER”

and advised Erekson she should “feel free to contact our office” iath@ny questions. ECF

No. 296. The same Settlement Agreement and Confession of Judgment as previously p
for this debt were attachéd.
DISCUSSION

Overshadowing Claim (Section 1692g(b))

Clarkson’s Argument. Clarksonargues neither the singtballenged sentence in the Ju
24, 2017 lettes nor any content of or attachment to the additional letters sent between Ju
2017, and August 21, 20.1@ontradict orovershadow Clarksds otherwise proper disclosure (
Ereksors rights to seek alidation of or challenge the subject debtlarksonasses the
challenged language the July 24, 2017 letter, “[t]hat you have thirty days to notify this officg
a dispute . . . may not prevent this office from filing a lawsuit within that timegjfiot support
an overshadowing claim because it does not demand immediate action or imposeean
obligation onEreksonwithin the Validation Period. ECF No. 39 atad@ressindourkin, 406

F.3d at 416).8 Neither is it presented in any way that visuablyershadows thé&equired

” Given their instructions to take action within ten days of the dates of the lattkrast the July
31, 2017, and August 10, 2017 letters sought action within ttig-tray Validation Period tha
followed Erekson’s receipt of the letter dated July 24, 2017. This is likely alsotrilefAugust
16, 2017 letter, assuming a typical delivery time for the July 24, 2017. |dttecontrast, the
deadlinestated in théAugust 21, 2017 letter almost certainly fell outside the Validation Perio

8 In addition to the in-circuit decisions addressed in prior memoraeeas(ipran. 4 addressing
Garcia-Contreras Glen, andTurner), Clarkson relies on the following decisg (1)Wilson v.
Quadramed Corp.225 F.3d 350, n. 6 (3d Cir. 2000) (holding instruction to pay debt to g
further action did not support overshadowing claim because it did not convey a sergenof/
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Disclosures such as by use of more prominent prirClarksonfurther argues omitting the

staement could be confusing because it lddail to alert the consumer the debt collector’s
right to continue collectiorefforts during the Validation Period.Thus, Clarksomaintainsthe
challenged language the July 24, 2017 letter would not confuse or mislead the least sophist
consumer.See infrd'Least $phisticatel Consumer Standard.”

Clarksonargues thesubsequent letteralsocannotsupport an overshadowing clain

Relyingon Durkin, it arguedollow-up letters during the Validation Period do not automatic

cated

N.

ally

overshadow earligRequired Disclosuresimply because they do not repeat that notice. “Rather,

[whether they overshadow] turns on whether the specific text contains anymisgible
overshadowing or contradiction with respect to the [Required Disclosui@stkin, 406 F.3d at
416. ClarksonassertBartlett supports a finding of overshadowing only where thessgbent
letters “contain both a demand for payment or threat of litigagioth an unduly confusing
obligation on behalf of the plaintiff.” ECF No. 39 at(t&ing Bartlet, 128 F.3d at 500). It furthe
argues “District Courts within the Fourth Circuit have only found overshadowingietetters

could be interpreted to include a demand for immediate payment or payment befoneytiayh

or threat of specific action such as would &#trof immediate litigation or credit buresapor);
(2) Jenkins v. Union Corp999 F. Supp. 1120, 1136 (N.D. Ill. 1998) (“[F]or a collection lette
threaten legal action . . ., it must communicate that a lawsuit is not merely a pgsbiliiliha a
decision to pursue legal action is either imminent or has already been ynadeé.(3)Fisher v.
Bernhardt and Strawser, RR013 WL 3990744 (W.D.N.C., Aug 2, 2013Fisher relied on
Jenkingn holding a letter that reminded the consumer “fees magase if she does not pay a
the creditor decides to pursue legal action in the future” was a mere pabicEaninder of possibleg

=

[ to

nd

consequences, couched in permissive language, and, consequently, not enough to support a clair

for “overshadowing or confusg threat of legal action.’Fisher, Slip. Op. at 7 (citinglenkinsin
stating courts “have interpreted the warning against litigious languagebtd &y the threof
imminentor pendinglegal action, not thpossibilityof legal action” (emphasis ioriginal)).

14




period or a threat of litigadh and . . . contained contradictory time periods that could confus
consumer.”ld. at 13 (citinge.g, McCormick 640 F. Supp. 2d at 799, 800 (explaining prior Foy
Circuit decisions “hinged on the contradiction between thda&30validation perid in the statute
and the call for some type of ‘immediate’ or earlier payment in the dunningsl8tteClarkson
acknowledges the letters requested return of the signed Settlement Agessmde@bnfessian
of Judgment within the Validation Period, bsartsEreksonwas free to decline that reque
without consequencdd. at 14 (“No consequence whatsoever was relayed in the letter for fa
to sign the documents. No payment was demanded in the letters whatsoelarelefithin the
30 day validation period.”).Clarksonalso maintains the letters contain no threat of litigati
arguing neither the subject line (“Midland Funding, L@ —Gale Erekson”) nor caption on th
Settlement Agreements and Confessions of Judgment constituted eithet afthtigation or an
indication litigation had been commenced.
Erekson's Response.In responsezrekson argueClarksonviolated Section 169R2in

its very first communication” by statindtfhat you havethirty days to notify this office of 3

disputeas to the validity of all or any portion of the defry not prevent this office from filing

lawsuit within that tim& ECF No. 42 at 11 (quoting ECF Nos.-29291) (emphasis in ECF No.

42). Ereksonassers this language, and the fact the letter magaw firm letterhead and signe
by an attorney “appears aimed at drawing attergwwayfrom the§ 1692 disclosures arntdwards
the possibility of being sued].]id. at 12 (emphasis in original).

Addressing Clarkson’s subsequégtters (dated afteErekson’s telephone conversatiq

with Clarkson)and attachededtlement AyreementandConfessions ofudgment Erekson argues

thesheer volume of these documents makesiérd to imagine that @onsumer . . wouldrecall

having received thg 16929 disclosures in the July 24, 2017 letters.” ECF No. 42 &2 .also
15
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argues the content of these documentrshadow the Required Brlosurebecause mosif the
letters demandedction, specifically return of signed and notarized copies ofSeétHement
Agreements and Confessions of Judgment, before the end of theltyr¥alidationPeriod. ECF
No. 42 at 13 (referring to instructions in the July 2117,August 102017,and August 16, 2017
lettery.

Ereksonalso arguesthe July 31, 2017 and ktletters contradict andovershadow the
Required Disclosures because they imptigation either had already commenced or w
imminent, which might dissuade the least soptastd consumer from exercising her rights
explained in the Required Disclass. Id. at 14. This argument rests on the captions found
the Settlement Agreements and Confessions of Judgment and the use of the follbjeridise:
‘Re: MIDLAND FUNDING LLC-vs-GALE EREKSON"

Section 1698. Section 1692g(a) of the FDCP#equires debt collectorprovide

consumerspecifiedwritten diglosures within five days of thaimitial communication. 15 U.S.C|.

§ 1692da). These Required Disclosures include (1)dbesumes right to dispute the debt withir
thirty days from receit of the written disclosures and (2) the debt collector’s obligation,
receives written notice of such dispute, to obtain and provide wrigiggtationof the debt to the
consumer.ld.

The debt collector magontinue collection efforts during the Validation Period, subjeq
certain limitations including that such efforts may betinconsistent with or overshadow t
Required DisclosuresSeel5 U.S.C. 8 1692g(b). This section reads in full as follows:

(b) Disputed debts

If the consumer ndtes the debt collector in writing within the thirday period

described in subsection (a) that the debt, or any portion thereof, is disputed, or that
the consumer requests the name and address of the original creditor, the debt

16

4

as

as

on

if it

tto




collector shaltease cdéction of the debt, or any disputed portion thereof, until the

debt collector obtains verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment, or the name

and address of the original creditor, and a copy of such verification or judgment, or
name and address of the original creditor, is mailed to the consumer by the debt
collector. Collection activities and communications that do not otherwise violate

this subchapter may continue during thed# period referred to in subsection (a)

unless the consumer has notified the debt collector in writing that the debt, or any

portion of the debt, is disputed or that the consumer requests the name and address
of the original creditor. Any collection activities and communication during the
30-day period may not overshadow or be inconsistent with the disclosure of the
consumesrs right to dispute the debt or request the name and address of the original
creditor.

15 U.S.C. 8§ 1692g(b) (emphasis added).

A debt collector's communication with the consumer violates Section 69y
contradiction or overshadowing if it contains language that would mislead or e@btamsumer
as to his right to dispute the del@ee Miller v. Payc@en. Am. Credits, Inc943 F.2d 4824th
Cir. 1991) (holding emphasized language on front of form demanding “IMMEDIATE FL
PAYMENT” and directing consumer to “PHONE US TODA¥hd to act “NOW’contradicted
and overshadowed notice printed in gray ink on reverse of feeegjsoDurkin, 406 F.3d at 4%,
Bartlett, 128 F.3d at 5001; McCormick 640 F. Supp. 2dt 798. This may, for example, occ
if a debt collector demands payment before expiration of the Validation Periodcherfdrinat
emphasizes the duty to make payment and obscuresiiseamers right to dispute the paymer,
within the Validation PeriodE.g., Miller, 943 F.2d at 484 (addressing concerns both with cor
and format)’

Least Sophisticated Consumer Standard. The Fourth Circuit applies the “leas

sophisticated consumer” standard in determining whether a communication oversh

° Erekson’s overshadowing claim focuses on content, not formatting.
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notification of aconsumes rightsor otherwise violates the FDCP/ASeeUnited States v. Ndt
Fin. Servs, Inc, 98 F.3d 131135-36 (4th Cir. 1996) (adopting majority rule). “While protecting
naive consumers, the standard also prevents liability for bizarre or idiosymti@pretations of
collection notices by preserving a quotient of reasonableness and presubasg devel of
understanding and willingness to read with catd.’at 136 (quting Clomon v. Jacksqr®88 F.2d
1314, 1319 (2d Cir.1993))Given theobjectivenature of the standard, whether an allegéatten

communication overshadows otherwise proper disclossigeserallyresolved as a matter of layw
by the court. E.g, McCormick 640 F. Supp. 2dt 798 (noting Fourth Circuit had not directly
addessed the question but “the majority circuits which have ruled on [whether the
contradiction/overshadowing question is a question of law or fact] view it as a qued#ari)of

Standard Applied to July 24, 2017 Letters. Erekson alleges the following language|in

the July 24, 2017 letters overshadows the otherpiisper disclosure of her rights: “That you
have thirty days to notify this office of a dispute as to the validity of alhgmpartion of the debt
may not prevent this office from filing a lawsuit within that tim&CF No. 29128, 34. Applying
the least sophisticated consumer standard, the court firdatiguagedoes not contradict of
overshadow the Requirddisclosures. Certainly, there is no visual overshadowing fas type
used for the Required Disclosures and the challenged reference to the ppséilitigation are
the same in stylesize color and background They are also located in immedist@djacent
paragraphs (the Required Disclosures immediately preceding the challangeede). The
challenged language is also closely followed bynaitation for the consumer or her attorney to
“contact this office with any further questions concerrtimg matter.” The next sentence states
“If you are not disputing any or all of the dghiease remit a chegkfollowed by further

instructions. ECF Nos. 29-at2 (emphasis added), Z9at2 (emphasis added).
18




In sum, the letter both provides the Required Disclosures and alerts the consumer to the

possibility litigation may benstitutedwithin the Validation Periodgiving equal weight to both
The reference to the possibility of litigation states a right of the debt colldared by Section

1692g(b) While the letterallows further communication and invites payment if the debt is

disputed, it expresses no deadline for actiobhus the letter does not suggest potential

competing deadlines as was the casBartlett and the district aurt decisions from within the

Fourth Circuit on which Erekson reliesSee suprat 5, n. 4. Thus, read with a “quotient o

reasonableness and . . . basic level of understanding and willingness to reaateyitthe sole

no

y

f

reference to possible litigatidn this brief letter would not overshadow the Required Disclosures.

Erekson’s Section 1692g(b) claim, in effect, depends on this court finding overshadowing

or contradiction whenever a debt collector mentions the possibility of litigalismg the
Validation Period without including something along the linesthted safeharbor language
proposed iBartlett, 128 F.3d 497. WhilBartlettsuggests safkarborlanguagdeffectivewithin

the Seventh Circuit), it does not find failure to include the laggueecessarily supports a clai

for overshadowing where the possibility of litigation is mentiorniédat 500. This is because the

m

letter at issue iBartlett required immediate action by stating “if you wish to resolve this matter

before legal actionsicommencedyou must do one of two things within one week of the date of

this letter” Bartlett, 128 F.3d at 499 (emphasis addeBartlett found ths demand contradicte
the statement of theonsumer’s rights during the thirty-day Validation Period. There are no
contradictory instructions or demands in the July 24, 2017 letter. In any event, thissc

persuaded bthe rationalen McCormickthatrequiring safeharbor language such as that adop

)

such

purt

ted

in Bartlett “would be writing words into the statute” and, consequently, is beyond the court’s

authority. McCormick 640 F. Supp. 2d &00. This is particularly true where, as here, the letter
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as a whole does not suggest the consumussttake any action prior to expiration of the Validatig
Period.

For these reasons, the court finds the inclusion of the challenged language iy & .
2017 letters neither contradicted nor overshadowed the Required Disclosures. ngtgot
Erekson’s first cause of action is dismissed to the extent based on those letter

Standard Applied to SubsequentLetters. The subsequent letters lead to a differ
result at least to the extent they direct Erekson to tken within the thirtyday Validation
Period which is true aso most of the subsequent lettefhis is because, had Erekson followe
the instructions in the letters, she would have waived her statutory tigbtgllenge or seel
additional information relating to the dshirior to the expiration of the Validation Period. Mg
critically, the S®ttlement Agreemestrelease “any and all claims and/or liabilitiesglion may
have against the creditor] both known and unknown related to the account at EsyeECF
No. 293 at 121 (a). They also concede thellfamount of the claimed debts ($4,770.21 3
$2,114.50)mre owed and agree to make payments until the debts are paid in full at the rate
per month beginning with a first payment on August 15, Z&Hate within the Validation Periad
Id. T (b). Finally, they agree to entry of tlatachedConfession®f Judgment (subject to cred
for any payments made) if Ersdn fails to make all payments as required (“on or before the
of each successive month until the debt is pai@hus, whether or not the letters themselves
a demandor payment within the Validation Period, they implore Erekson to &akien within
the Validation riod that would result in all of the following occurrimgthin that period (1)
loss of rightsaddressed in the Requiredsbliosures (2) release of “any and all claims and
liabilities against [the creditor] related to the account at issug'an(3rrevocable agreement t

pay the debt in full over an extended period of time with the consequence-payroent being
20
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the entry of a Confession of Judgment; anda(fljst payment Applying the Least Sophisticate
Consumer standard, the court findsstisufficient to state a claim for contradiction

overshadowing in violation of Section 1692g(b).

This conclusion is further supported by the subject line on the various letters and the us

of captions on the Settlement Agreements and Confessions of Judgment. While a pérg
some experience in legal matters would likely understand the use of the nbgeand captiong
did not signal the existence of litigation, the least sophisticated consumer miighe¢ \wenfused
as to whether the documents indicated litigation had been commenced or was imioteahty,
Clarkson could easily have aveid this confusion by expressly stating litigation had not b
commenced. tldid not address the point either way in the July 31, 2017 letters. In the Augy
2017, and August 16, 20X@llow-up letters, Clarksorreferred to the possibility litigatiohad
already been institutedSeeECF Nos. 29, 295 (stating “Additionally, if a law suit has bee
filed against you, the legal proceedings will continue until the documentsogreriyrcompleted
and returned.”). Thus, neither set of letters advised Erekson litigation had not hiegedshile
the follow-up letters suggested litigation might be pending.
For these reasons, the court finds the allegations sufficient to support acelaioidtion

of Section 1692g(b) to the extesuich claim isbaed on the letters dated on and after July
2017. Accordingly, the motion to dismiss is denied in part as to the first cause of action.

Il. False and Misleading Claim (Section 1692e)

on wit

een

st 10,

Clarkson’s Argument. Clarksonargues the letters and attached Settlement Agreements

and Confessions of Judgment sent between July 31, 86dAugust 21, 2017, do not suppor
claim under Section 1692e, which prohibits a debt collector from using “any faleptigecor

misleading representation or means in connection with the collection of arty &€l No. 39 at
21
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16 (quoting Section 1692e{larksoncharacterize&reksors Section 1692e claimsaesting on
allegations of atincorrect recollection of agreed upon payment plang. at 172° It argues such
allegations “cannot even be shoehorned into any category lisgetig@2e.” Id. at 17. Clarkson
maintains that, ifEreksors recollectionof the agreemestdiffered from that set out in the

attachmentsshe was free to contaClarksonfor clarification or revisions Id. at 18 (arguing

allowing a claim based aonsumer’s assertion “a letter from a debt collector . . . does not match

her exact recollections . . . would open a Pandora’s box of FDCPA litigatioat®edt would

allow every dbtor who has had a conversation with a debt collector “to sue the debt collectpor and

cause the debt collector to incur legal costs and expenses”).

Clarksonalso challengeEreksors characterization of the letters and attached documents

as falsely suggeisig litigation had been initiatedClarkson notegreksonrelies on he subject
line of the lettes and use of captions on the Settlement Agreements and Congasfsioiigmat,
which it argues are not enough to mislead a consumer into believing litigiatibbeen instituted

Finally, ClarksonarguesEreksoncannot faultClarksonfor failing to explain “the legal

ramifications of signing a confession of judgment in connection with thersetiteagreement.™
Id. at 19 (quoting ECF No. 2P106). Clarksonassets it has no obligation to provide legal advi

and it would be unethical for it to do so given its representation of clients with an adtversst.

10 Clarkson does not address the possibility the paymens pldaressed in the Settleme
Agreemendg wereintentionally overstated, an inference that may not be required but is eans
with Erekson’s allegatioshe only agreed to make six payments of $10 on each of the two
in contrast to the Settlement Agreements’ provisions for payment in ribqgweriod of over 211
months on one debt and 477 months on the other.
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Erekson’s Responseln response, Ereksomgues she has adequately allegétarksons
communications were false, misleading, and deceptivarious respectsk-or examplethe July
31, 2017 letterg(1) “falsely repreented [Eregon]had agreed to sign confessions of judgme
(2) misstated Erekson’s agreement, {{3luded subjectines suggestive of pending litigatior
(“Midland Funding LLC—- vs —Gale Erekson”when none had been filed, and @tached

documentsvith captionsand content further suggesting pending litigation and that the docur

nt,”

—

nents

came from a court. ECF No. 42 at 84artingstatement Confession of Judgment would be “held

in [Clarksons] file unless you default” could lead the least sophisticated consumeri¢aebal
lawsuit had been filed Erekson points to repeated use of the same subjecidisebsequent
letters. She acknowledges the August 10, 2017, and August 16, 2017 letters'statidv suit
[sic] has been filed against you, the legal proceedings will continue until the documer
properly completed and returnédut argues the conditional nature of this language does
defeat any inference that might be drawn from other indicia litigation may bav@enced.Id.
(referring to ECF Nos. 2@, 29-5)(emphasisn ECF No. 42.

Focusing primarily on the allegedly false representation she agregd & confession of
judgment, Erekson argues her allegations are sufficient to support a claimSeatien 1692e
Id. at 5 (citingFrey v. Gangwish970 F.2d 1516, 1521 (6th Cir. 1992) for intentional breadt
FDCPA protections). She notes the categories listed @etdtion1692eare expressly presente
asexamples rather than limitationdd. (noting examples are preceded by the phrase “with
limiting the general application of the foregoifglh any eventSection 1692éncludesa broad
catchall provision coverind[tlhe use of any false representation . . . to attempt to collect
debt”). Id. (citing Section 1692¢e(10)). Responding to Clarkson’s assertion there is no pre

supporting the specifics of her claiirekson tes an unpublishedecision denying a motion t
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dismiss a Section 1692e claim based on similar allegatiohst 6 (citingLangley v. Northstar

Location Servs., LL(No. CV H16-1351, 2016 WL 4059355 (S.D. Tex. July 28, 20(®)ding

allegations debtollector sent a letter falsely stating the consumer had agreed to make a payment

stated claim for violation of Section 1692e).
In support of her asserti@iarksors communications falsely suggested a lawsuit had b

filed, Erekson points to a decisidrolding asimilar letter and attached “consent judgme

violated Section 1692dd. at 9 (discussingohnson v. Eatqr873 F. Supp. 1019, 1027-28 (M.D.

La. 1995) (finding letter that contained suit caption in heading and attacheshtjprgment with
same caption, including name of court and signature line for a judge, violated Section 16

because they would lead “least sophisticated consumer” to “believe he hadubdeand that

these documents were issued by the courEjekson asserts the gndistinction between the

consent judgment idohnsorand the Confessions of Judgment here is the includiarsignature

line for a judge in the former, which she argues is not sufficient distiti warrant a different

resultunder the least sophistited consumer standard.
Section 1692e.
Section 1692e provides, in part, as follows:

A debt collector may not use afalse, deceptive, or misleading representation or
meansn connection with the collection of any deWithout limitingthe general
application of the foregoing, the following conduct is a violation of this section:

* * *

(9) The use or distribution of any written communication wtstchulates or is
falsely represented to be a document authorized, issued, or approaeg bourt
official, or agency of the United States or any State, or which creates a false
impression as to its source, authorization, or approval.

(10) The use of any false representation or deceptive means to collect or attempt to
collect any debor to obtain information concerning a consumer.
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15 U.S.C. 8§ 1692e (emphasis added)
Discussion. As with Erekson’s overshadowing claim, the court applies the le

sophisticated consumer standard in determining whether Erekson has stateduadgda8ection

ast

1692e. Applying thistandard, the court finds Erekson has stated a claim at least to the extent she

alleges Clarkson intentionally misrepresented the agreement reached during the telephone

conversation and attempted to bind Erekson to the meciesized agreement.

As noted above;rekson alleges shaitiated a telephone call ©@larkson following receipt
of the July 24, 2017 letters, which invited such communication. During this call, Eratsed
to make six payments of $10 each on tvattd. She did not agree to sign a Confession
Judgmenbr make payments beyond the first six payméht€larksonsentErekson twdetters

dated July 31, 2017with attached Settlement Agreements and Confessions of Judg

purporting to reflect agreements reached during the telephone conversation. atheda

Settlement Agreements waived any claim against the creditor relating telthagteed to make
payments of $10 per month on each of the deftisthey were paid in fulland agreed to entry o
a Confession of Judgment (subject to credit for any payments made) if Erettswt diake the
payments as agreed. Given the amount of the debts, such payments would have conti

roughly 211months on one debt and 477 months in the other. The Confessions of Juc

11 To the extent this claim depends on what was said during the telephone conversatian
on evidence beyond the documents attached to the complaint and, consequently, raises i
proper for resolution under Rule 12(b)(6). Erekson refers to the existence of a recottti@g
conversation, which may resolaeyfactual dispute as to what was said.
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conceded liability for the full amount of each debt and stated Erekson authbwezeckditor to
file them “for record with the Clerk of Court’s Office for Richland County.”
Thus, the AmendedComplaint alleges the July 312017 leters and attachment

substantially misstated the agreement reached duribgleahone conversation, suggesti

ng

Ereksorhad agreed to these terms. The cover letter requested action within ten dayst didhile i

not state any adverse action would be taken if Erekson declined to return the documaats
did it suggest she could decline to sign and return the documents without consequence o
call if the attachmerg did not properly state the agreememllowing the course of actior
requested in the letters would have waived any right Erekson had to dispute the debt aitiédo
her to a course of action far greater thaytlaing she had agreed to do.ieWwed from the
perspective of the least sophisticated consumer, the court finds the discosimestn what
Erekson alleges was discussed in tilephone conversation and the July, 2017 lettersand
attachmerd sufficient to state a claimClarkson used false, deceptive, or misleadin
representationor meando collect a debt.Whether or not this “shoehorns” into an enumera
example, it falls within the generally proscribed conduct and edtaf Section 1692¢e(10).
The potential for violation of Section 1692e is further supported by the poten
misleading use a$ulject lines on letters anchptions on attachmentsdVhether or not this us
falls preciselywithin what is prohibited by Section 1692¢(R)aises similar concerns as it mig
mislead thdeast sophisticated consumer to beligtrgation was imminent ohad been iniated
or the documents were issued by a court. At this stage, the court finds the combiratitonef

and this usage sufficient to state a claim.
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CONCLUSION
For the reasons set forth above, Clarkson’s motion to dismiss is grantee éatént
Erekson’s first cause of action is founded on the July 24, 2017 letters. It is deniedtimer
respects.
IT IS SO ORDERED.
s/ Cameron McGowan Currie

CAMERON MCGOWAN CURRIE
Senior United Stas District Judge

Columbia, South Carolina
September 5, 2018

27




